CITY OF BRIDGEPORT
ORDINANCE COMMITTEE
REGULAR MEETING
FEBRUARY 25, 2025

ATTENDANCE:  Aikeem Boyd, Co-chair; Eneida Martinez, Co-chair; Michelle Lyons,
Ernest Newton, Maria Valle

OTHERS: Council Member(s): Council President A. Nieves, S. Burns, A. Castillo, F.
Hodges, R. Ortiz, M. Pereira, D. Spell & A. Vizzo-Paniccia; T. Toms,
City Attorney; J. Maye, Associate City Attorney; M. Jankovsky, Associate
City Attorney; A. Aguilera, Director, Legislative Services; B. Coleman,
OPED Deputy Director

CALL TO ORDER

Co-chair Boyd called the meeting to order at 6:36 p.m. A quorum was present.

APPROVAL OF COMMITTEE MINUTES:

« January 28, 2025 (Regular Meeting)

** COUNCIL MEMBER LYONS MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 28, 2025
MEETING.

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

* February 3, 2025 (Public Hearing)

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 3, 2025
PUBLIC HEARING.

** COUNCIL MEMBER LYONS SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED WITH TWO (2) IN FAVOR (VALLE AND NEWTON) AND
ONE (1) ABSTENTION (MARTINEZ).

21-24 Proposed Amendment to the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Title 12 — Streets,
Sidewalks and Public Places, amend to add NEW Chapter 12.18 — Walk of
Honor.

Council Member Valle said that that an email had gone out about creating a Walk of Honor. She
then gave a brief history of how some streets had honorary street sign. She explained that in an
emergency, someone could easily confuse the honorary name with the actual street name. The
honorary street name will not show up on the 9-1-1 dispatch map. Also there is one particular
street that has three honorary street names associated with it.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 1



She suggested that instead of giving streets with honorary names, they consider having a walk of
honor, which would be a commemorative walk near City Hall. She listed a number of deceased
Bridgeport residents who played significant roles in the City. She gave a few examples and
thanked Ms. Aguilera for her work, along with the attorneys who have worked on this project.

Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia explained that there was no consistent policy on the honorary
street signage and she had tried to move a resolution through a number of years ago, but it had
not been approved. She gave a brief overview of the past actions and noted that they had
considered using the South Entrance at Lyon Terrace. If this resolution is approve, they can
consider removing the honorary street signs and include the individuals in the Walk of Honor.
Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia said that previously at the last minute, the Committee was
informed that the prior resolution was not viable but no reason was ever given.

Council Member Valle said that she had spoken with the attorney about this and that there were
details that needed to be addressed.

City Attorney Toms explained that there was a sixty day window to prepare a legal opinion
designated in the Charter, but often the resolutions arrive in Committee before the City
Attorney’s Office has a chance to prepare a legal opinion.

Regarding this particular item, the City Hall Committee has always existed and they must
approve any changes in City Hall. If the area that the Honor Walk is ultimately place is in a City
park, it would need the approval of the Parks Committee. This is simply the process.

Council Member Lyons said that she was in agreement with this and wished to have her name

added to this resolution. She also spoke about Veteran’s Park where there is a commemorative
brick walk.

Council Member Lyons requested a list of the members of the City Hall Committee. Council
President Nieves said that the Committee was composed of the City Clerk, the Finance Director
and the City Council President. Atty. Toms confirmed that this was so. Atty. Toms said that there
was no one from Public Facilities on the Committee.

Council Member Newton said that he did not feel it was right that someone had to die before
they could see a memorial honoring their work. He said that he would like to see this changed.

Council Member Pereira said that she had several questions. She pointed out that the current
resolution did not mention anything about replacing the current honorary street signage. Council
Member Vizzo-Paniccia said she had mentioned this as something that she would like to look
into, but was not in the current resolution.

Council Member Pereira said she had thought that the park was located at 999 Broad Street and
not on Lyon Terrace. She wished to have some clarification on whether Union Park was under
the control of the City Hall Committee or under the Parks Commission.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 2



Council Member Valle said that she had spoken to the Parks Commission and that they were
waiting for the Committee to answer some questions about how the recommendations for
memorial stones would be done. She said that if they chose to do the sidewalk into City Hall, it
would be a different process.

Council President Nieves said that the item had not been presented to the City Hall Committee
and that the inquiry had been presented by the City Clerk. She gave the details and noted that the
former Public Facilities Director had the item ready for approval before he left. She noted that
there would be a QRS code that would allow people to scan it on their phone to connect them
with a short bio for the individual. Discussion followed.

Council Member Valle explained that there would be an application process and a Committee
would be established similar to the Citizen Union. This Committee would consist of seven
individuals from the legal profession, business community, a Council Member and a Department
head. She went on to give an outline of how the process would work. The individuals should
have done something for the City.

Council Member Valle said that she was asking the Committee Members to send their questions
and comments to her, Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia and Council President Nieves. The goal
is to get this program up and running this year.

Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia said that if they moved the memorial bricks to the South
Entrance of City Hall, the bricks would be located along the border of the sidewalk. They will be
secured and cemented in place. They would be 8 x 8. She went to give the details of the location.

The Committee had brought up the timing of the application. Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia
said that they would schedule this during the even years, so it would not conflict with the
Council elections.

Council Member Martinez said it was a great idea, but had concerns about who would be
responsible for maintaining the bricks and what the cost would be to the City. She reminded
people that there were skateboarders who were tearing up the walls of the memorials across the
street from the Margaret Morton Center. The memorial has fallen into disrepair and is dirty.
There is an ordinance that exists for the honorary street signs. Her major concern is that the City
needs to maintain the parks. Discussion followed.

City Attorney Toms suggested that they consider contacting various businesses to see if any of
them would be interested in sponsoring the clean-up and maintenance of the memorial.

Council Member Burns suggested that if there is an application fee and the application is
approved, the City keeps the application fee. If the application is not selected, then the check can
be returned to the applicant. The City could also ask for donations for maintenance. He had a
number of questions regarding the application details. Discussion followed about the details.

City Attorney Toms said that it would help her office to see what this would look like because
the different attorneys in her office have various specialties. One may be concerned about

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 3



tripping hazards and another about other issues. Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia said that Parks
Department has an example of the bricks and Mr. DePara has most of the paperwork.

Council President Nieves said that the City charges for the honorary street naming’s and in 2021,
the fee was $175. The applicant pays half and the City pays half. This cost is only for the sign.
She suggested that they consider dedicating a portion of the cannabis funding for this project.
Mr. Gaudette said that the State has ruled that the cannabis funding should be used in areas that
have been disproportionately affected by drug use.

Council Member Pereira said that since they were not going to be approving this tonight, she
would send her comments and suggestions to Council Valle, Council Member Vizzo-Paniccia
and Council President Nieves.

Council Member Valle said the former Public Facilities Director had told her that he would find
the money to pay for this project because it was not a major expense. Mr. Burgos, the current
Director, said that he agreed that they could find the money for this project.

Council Member Martinez felt that since there had been conversations with the various
Department heads, the Department heads should have been present to discuss this item and
answer questions. Her major concern is maintenance. There are also issues with having a
committee deciding who would be approved because there can be personality issues.

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO TABLE AGENDA ITEM 21-24
PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, TITLE
12 — STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND PUBLIC PLACES, AMEND TO ADD NEW
CHAPTER 12.18 - WALK OF HONOR.

** COUNCIL MEMBER LYONS SECONDED.

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE PASSED WITH THREE (3) IN FAVOR (MARTINEZ,
LYONS AND NEWTON) AND ONE (1) OPPOSED (VALLE).

24-24 Proposed Amendments to the Municipal Code of Ordinances, amend Chapter
2.102 — Planning and Zoning Commission.

Council Member Pereira explained that this was a resolution involving a text amendment, which
IS not project specific. When a text amendment is made, it applies City wide. She went on to
explain that if a text amendment affected something within 500 feet of a City border, the City
must notify the neighboring town (i.e. Stratford, Trumbull, Fairfield) and give them 30 days’
notice.

She said that she was proposing that the only people that should be suggesting text amendments
should be staff or Committee members. The most recent text amendment would have affected six
zones. Her proposal was that since they have to notify the neighboring towns, the OPED staff
should come to Economic Development to give an overview and explanation of the change. She
gave an example of how a private citizen had proposed a text amendment about cannabis sales
that would have affected every school, church and government building in the City.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 4



Having OPED come to present the changes would give the Council Members a chance to learn
about the proposed item and ask questions. During Planning and Zoning hearings, the public
cannot get answers to their questions. This would allow the Council Members to be informed in
advance and decide whether to support or oppose it.

Council Member Pereira said that there had been a number of times when the Planning and
Zoning agenda had been amended at the last minutes. She would like to have the Council
Members from each District receive copies of any applications that were submitted in their
District for review shortly after it is submitted. The Council Members just need two page form,
not the maps and other details. Then the Council Member can decide if they need more
information. Discussion followed.

Council Member Pereira then reviewed the amended language that she was proposing.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO AMEND 2.102.070 TO CHANGE THE
NOTIFICATION OF THE COUNCIL MEMBERS FROM “SEVEN DAYS” TO “TEN
DAYS”.

** COUNCIL MEMBER LYONS SECONDED.

**THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO 24-24 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, AMEND CHAPTER 2.102 -
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AS AMENDED.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON SECONDED.

Council Member Lyons said that this should also apply to the Zoning Board of Appeal. She said
there was an item that had been added to the ZBA agenda with no prior notice and no one had
known about it. She gave the details and commented that if one person had shown up in
opposition, it might have made a difference.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

28-24 Proposed Resolution Making Certain Findings required to Reauthorize the
Connecticut City and Town Development Act.

29-24 Proposed Resolution Authorizing the Renewal of Connecticut City and Town
Development Act.

Mr. Coleman, the OPED Deputy Director, came forward to present and requested that he be
allowed to speak to both Agenda Item 28-24 and 29-24.

**  COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO CONSOLIDATE THE
FOLLOWING ITEMS:

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 5



28-24 PROPOSED RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS REQUIRED
TO REAUTHORIZE THE CONNECTICUT CITY AND TOWN DEVELOPMENT
ACT.

29-24 PROPOSED RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RENEWAL OF
CONNECTICUT CITY AND TOWN DEVELOPMENT ACT.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON SECONDED.
** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

Mr. Coleman said that this was a request for the Committee to re-authorize the City to continue
to participate in the City and Town Development Act. It is a broad, enabling statute and the last
time the Committee had done it was in 2020. He said that the language requires the public
findings before approval. This covers broad economic powers to sell properties. This is a good
tool for the City and it is not in the City’s best interest to deny it.

Council Member Pereira said that the legislature was supporting affordable housing. She said
that she support real affordable housing for veterans and disabled residents.

Mr. Coleman said that this was a useful tool for the City, but they are not required to use it. This
is geared more towards towns who don’t want any affordable housing and pass moratoriums
again 8-30G. Bridgeport has continue to support affordable housing. This is complimentary to
the City’s work and would be helpful to have.

Council Member Pereira then spoke about her concerns about 10% tax breaks. She asked if the
City could work with a developer and require 25% of the units to be affordable veteran housing.
Mr. Coleman said that this could be done, but it should be done when individual proposals are
brought forward. He explained that the 8-30G statute requires the 10%. He added that with
Steele Point, 40% of the 120 units would be deed restricted affordable units. He explained that
there were some LDA agreements that had affordable units off site.

Council Member Pereira said that Phase Il of Crescent Crossing was offering single bedroom
apartments for $450,000 and said that she would like to know what was going there. Mr.
Coleman said that the financing was being done by CHAFA.

Council Member Castillo said that there were a lot of people coming in from New York. He
added that there were a lot of Marina Village residents waiting to go back to Marina Village,
which he didn’t think would happen. Crescent Crossing got a 35 year tax break and no one from
Bridgeport is working there. New Haven doesn’t allow out of town workers to work on their City
jobs. In Bridgeport, anyone from Stamford, New Haven or wherever can come and work.
Bridgeport is the last City to be developed. When developers come, they should follow
Bridgeport rules.

Council member Castillo said that what they need is workforce housing, not affordable housing.
There is all this blighted property in the City. What is going on in the Building Department. It
takes two or three years to do a project. The projects need to benefit Bridgeport.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 6



Council Member Martinez asked who would be benefiting from this. She said that Crescent
Crossing had not followed the terms of their contracts. When the Council approves the project,
the developers don’t fulfill what they said that they were going to do.

Mr. Coleman said that the Council had established some very specific ordinances for re-entry
and other residents. This ordinance will allow the City to continue the conversations. This would
allow them to work on property acquisition. He said that he was hearing the Committee members
concerns. One group wanted to come back for a project in Bridgeport but Mr. Coleman said “I’'m
sorry, but no thank you.”

He noted for the record that a past administration had been the one that approved the lengthy tax
breaks. Now they do affordables for 15 years. OPED is trying to generate revenue for the City
and they have to focus on this.

Council Member Hodges said that the City does not have enough guard rails and when he went
to Steele Point earlier in the day, they gave him a bunch of mumbo-jumbo about the sub-
contractors. He wants to know each and every contractor that this working on that site. The City
needs to have accountability and if they need a subcommittee to check on this, it should be done.

Council Member Valle said that she and Council President Nieves had gone to the OPED office
to speak about Crescent Crossing and having Hispanic and other minorities attacked by the staff
in the Crescent Crossing office. People need to remember this when the developer come for a tax
break.

Council President Nieves said that the Council was responsible for not having guard rails and
when they help developers push their permits through. She suggested that they amend the
resolution to add another item, number 9, and presented the language. By adding the language,
they could pull a contractor in to tell them they were not in compliance with the ordinance.

Mr. Coleman said that the previous contracts do have S&B requirements in them. He also
explained that these were broad enabling resolutions. There are enabling processes already in
place and the City could audit a project. If they default, then the tax abatement goes away and
they pay the full tax assessment. He said that these two resolutions are based on State statutes
and need the City to make specific findings. This is just to re-authorize the previous ordinance.
Discussion followed.

Atty. Toms explained that a Contract Compliance position does exist in the City but is not
funded. There is only so much that the individual department can do. She suggested that they
consider adding this position because it would not only apply to OPED but to other departments
as well. Discussion followed.

Council Member Castillo said that an OPED employee had told him that it was his department
that choses the winners and losers in terms of compliance. Mr. Coleman said that his department
is not involved in any way in determining who is a winner or a loser. They do not tell anyone to
lay low. The department’s commitment, along with Mr. Coleman’s, is to see that Economic
Development works for the City’s residents. What others may say is up to them. For the record,

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 7



Mr. Coleman said that he and the department are serious about the topics that have been
discussed. Discussion followed.

Council Member Newton said that he would like to have the developers report to the City and
show that they are in compliance.

Council Member Burns left the meeting.

Council Member Pereira said that Ed Adams was the head of the Accountability office and no
one knows what he does. She said that if they had to eliminate that position to create a
compliance officer, she would support it.

Council Member Martinez said that the Council Members have the power to address this issue. If
there is a problem at Crescent Crossing, the Council needs to address it.

** COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ MOVED TO APPROVE THE FOLLOWING
AGENDA ITEMS: 28-24 PROPOSED RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS
REQUIRED TO REAUTHORIZE THECONNECTICUT CITY AND TOWN
DEVELOPMENT ACT.

28-24 PROPOSED RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS REQUIRED
TO REAUTHORIZE THE CONNECTICUT CITY AND TOWN DEVELOPMENT
ACT.

29-24 PROPOSED RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RENEWAL OF
CONNECTICUT CITY AND TOWN DEVELOPMENT ACT.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON SECONDED.
** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

ADJOURNMENT

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO ADJOURN.
** COUNCIL MEMBER LYONS SECONDED.
**THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

The meeting adjourned at 8:20 p.m.
Respectfully submitted,

Telesco Secretarial Services

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

February 25, 2025 Page 8



